No. S274191

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CORBY KUCIEMBA, ET AL.
Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

VICTORY WOODWORKS, INC.
Defendant/Respondent

On Grant of Request to Decide Certified Questions from the United States Court of
Appeal for the Ninth Circuit Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548
Ninth Circuit No. 21-15963

OPENING BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF'S-PETITIONERS

VENARDI ZURADA LLP
Mark L. Venardi (SBN 173140)
Martin Zurada (SBN 218235)
Mark Freeman (SBN 293721)
101 Ygnacio Valley Road, Suite 100
Walnut Creek, CA 94596
Telephone: (925) 937-3900
Facsimile: (925) 937-3905

Counsel for Plaintiffs/Petitioners

I. QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court accepted certification of two questions by the Ninth Circuit regarding the scope of California Workers’ Compensation statutes and general tort liability principles in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Ninth Circuit framed the certified questions as follows:

1. If an employee contracts COVID-19 at his workplace and brings the virus home to his spouse, does California’s derivative injury doctrine bar the spouse’s claim against the employer?

2. Under California law, does an employer owe a duty to the households of its employees to exercise ordinary care to prevent the spread of COVID-19?

II. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs-Petitioners Corby Kuciemba (“Mrs. Kuciemba”) and her husband Robert Kuciemba (“Mr. Kuciemba”, collectively referred to as “Plaintiffs”) allege that Mrs. Kuciemba contracted a severe case of COVID-19 (“COVID”) due to the negligence of Mr. Kuciemba’s

former employer, Defendant-Respondent Victory Woodworks, Inc. (“Defendant”). Defendant violated a COVID Health Order of the City and County of San Francisco (the “Health Order”), CDC Guidelines, and other regulations, by moving workers exposed to COVID at its Mountain View worksite to its San Francisco worksite without quarantining them, and thereafter by failing to take other day-to-day COVID safety precautions at that San Francisco worksite, as required by the Health Order. Defendant knew that its neglect and violation of the Health Order would expose not only the employees, but also members of each employee’s household, to a highly contagious and dangerous virus in COVID, for which there was not yet a vaccine. Defendant still failed to take basic precautions. Defendant caused Mr. Kuciemba to contract COVID while at work at Defendant’s location in San Francisco by failing to follow the Health Order and the CDC Guidance. Mr. Kuciemba then brought the virus home from work and unknowingly infected his wife Mrs. Kuciemba. Mrs. Kuciemba was infected either through “direct transmission” (from exposure to her infected husband) or “indirect transmission” (coming into contact with her husband’s clothing or personal effects from, for example, doing laundry).

Mrs. Kuciemba became very ill, spent many weeks on a ventilator, required extended hospital treatment, and still suffers from significant aftereffects of COVID. This case involves the direct injury to Mrs. Kuciemba from being contaminated by the virus, and for Mr. Kuciemba's derivative damages arising from the direct injury to his wife.

Defendant moved to dismiss Plaintiff's First Amended Complaint on the grounds that (a) Mrs. Kuciemba's claims were barred by the exclusive remedy of Workers' Compensation and (b) that Defendant owed no duty to Mrs. Kuciemba. The district court granted Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint without leave to amend (Excerpt of Record ("ER") ER-004-006).¹ Plaintiffs timely appealed to the Ninth Circuit, which certified two questions to this Court. Plaintiffs respectfully disagree with the district court's ruling which misapplied California law.

Plaintiffs summarize their position regarding each Certified Question below:

Certified Question No. 1: If an employee contracts COVID-19 at

¹ All citations to the record refer to Plaintiffs-Appellants' Excerpts of Record filed with the Ninth Circuit. The Ninth Circuit filed the Excerpts of Record with this Court on April 21, 2022.

his workplace and brings the virus home to his [non-employee] spouse, does California's derivative injury doctrine bar the spouse's claim against the employer? Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court answer "No" to the first Certified Question.

The district court held that Mrs. Kuciemba's negligence claim based on "direct transmission" of COVID was barred based on the exclusive remedy of Workers' Compensation. In summary, the district court held that because Mrs. Kuciemba's injuries were factually caused by Mr. Kuciemba's exposure to the virus at work, this means that her claims are "derivative" claims (rather than "direct" claims) which are subsumed by the Workers' Compensation system.

This holding does not comport with California law. First, a core tenet of California law is that "[f]or every wrong there is a remedy". *Civ. Code* § 3523. On a fundamental level, Mrs. Kuciemba would be denied any ability to pursue a claim for her own direct personal injuries to her body and mind, even though she has no Workers' Compensation remedy available to her as a non-employee. If this Court were to answer "Yes" to the First Certified Question, Mrs. Kuciemba would be denied a chance to present her case, and would have no civil legal remedy for her significant injuries despite Defendant's failure to

exercise ordinary care by following the Health Order. This would be a terrible result for an innocent person whose body and mind were ravaged by COVID because of Defendant's wrongdoing.

Second, the district court's ruling is contrary to this Court's holding in *Snyder v. Michael's Stores, Inc.* (1997) 16 Cal. 4th 991. *Snyder* holds that direct injury claims against an employer by a non-employee family member are not subject to Worker's Compensation. The pregnant mother in *Snyder* inhaled the toxic levels of carbon monoxide at work and then passed that toxic gas through the mother's body to her unborn child who was injured. This Court expressly held in *Snyder* that the direct physical injury to the infant plaintiff (a non-employee) in its mother's womb at work was distinct from the injuries to its mother (the employee), and that it was legally irrelevant that the mother (the employee) was also injured at work. Here, Mrs. Kuciemba is a *non-employee* alleging a direct claim for her *own* physical injuries because of Defendant's negligence. She is not alleging a derivative claim such as loss of consortium, or emotional distress, which would flow from *Mr. Kuciemba's* injuries.

The district court's error was to equate Mrs. Kuciemba's claims for physical injuries (which under *Snyder* are *not* subject to the

exclusive remedy) in this case with “typical” derivative injury claims by a non-employee spouse (such as wrongful death/emotional distress/loss of consortium claims) based on physical injuries to the employee spouse which are subject to a workers’ compensation bar.

Finally, Plaintiffs’ position is supported by *See’s Candies, Inc. v. Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles* (2021) 73 Cal. App. 5th 66 (review denied, April 13, 2022), the only published case addressing this identical issue. *See’s Candies* is compelling because it features nearly identical factual and legal issues and the decision clearly and correctly applied the holding of *Snyder* in the context of the COVID pandemic.

Certified Question No. 2: Under California law, does an employer owe a duty to the households of its employees to exercise ordinary care to prevent the spread of COVID-19? Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court answer “Yes” to the Second Certified Question.

The district court ruled that Defendant owed no legal duty to Mrs. Kuciemba. However, it is clear, under this Court’s controlling precedent in *Kesner v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal. 5th 1132, that an employer owes a duty to protect members of the workers’ households

from any pathogens that a worker may be exposed to at work. The duty at issue in this case is described in the very detailed Health Order and CDC Guidance. The district court erred by finding no duty exists even though the district court acknowledged that foreseeability, the most important duty factor, favored Plaintiffs. In this brief Plaintiffs provide a detailed analysis of various *Kesner* foreseeability and public policy factors that illustrate why Defendant owed a duty of ordinary care to Mrs. Kuciemba.

This case should be heard on the merits before a jury of Plaintiffs' peers rather than dismissed at the pleading stage leaving Mrs. Kuciemba with no remedy for her injuries. Plaintiffs respectfully request this Court answer "No" to the First Certified Question and "Yes" to the Second Certified Question.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The district court dismissed the Kuciembas' claims with prejudice, without leave to amend.

In this section, Plaintiffs provide an overview of this case's procedural history, with a more detailed discussion below.

This action was filed on October 23, 2020 in the Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco. (ER-154-165). Defendant is a Nevada Corporation. (ER-154). Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446,

Defendant removed this action to the Northern District of California on December 28, 2020 on the basis of diversity jurisdiction. (ER-170). Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss on January 4, 2021. (ER-171). Plaintiffs opposed the Motion and the district court heard oral argument on February 12, 2021. (ER-172-173) The district court granted Defendant's Motion with leave to amend on February 22, 2021. (ER-095-096; 173)

Plaintiffs then filed a First Amended Complaint (at times referred to as "FAC") on March 18, 2021. (ER-84-094, 173).

Defendant filed a renewed Motion to Dismiss on April 1, 2021. (ER-174). Plaintiffs opposed this renewed Motion and the district court heard oral argument on May 7, 2021. (ER-174). The district court dismissed the First Amended Complaint with prejudice on May 10, 2021 holding that (1) Mrs. Kuciemba's "direct" transmission claims were barred by the Exclusive Remedy of Workers' Compensation; and (2) her "indirect" claims were dismissed for lack of plausibility and in the alternative, Defendant owed no duty to Mrs. Kuciemba. (ER-004-006, 174-175). Plaintiffs timely appealed the dismissal of the First Amended Complaint on June 3, 2021. (ER-084-094, 173). The Ninth Circuit heard oral argument on March 10, 2022. On April 21, 2022, the

Ninth Circuit certified the two questions quoted above to this Court.

This Court granted review on June 22, 2022.

B. Plaintiffs' original complaint alleged claims for negligence based on Defendant's violation of the Health Order. These violations caused Mr. Kuciemba to become infected with COVID. Mr. Kuciemba then "took home" the virus to his non-employee wife, Mrs. Kuciemba, who became severely ill.

Defendant operates construction sites in the State of California. Mr. Kuciemba, husband of Mrs. Corby Kuciemba, worked for Defendant at a San Francisco jobsite from May 6, 2020 to July 10, 2020. (ER-154-165) The complaint alleges that Defendant knew or should have known that its employees at a Mountain View jobsite became infected, and/or exposed to persons infected with COVID, but knowingly transferred these workers to a San Francisco jobsite without requiring that the workers quarantine first, thus commingling its Mountain View and San Francisco workers. (ER-154-165) Defendant transferred these infected workers even though it was aware of a San Francisco County Health Order (ER-052-083), CDC Guidelines, and other regulations, that required and/or called for quarantining, mandatory screening protocols, having workers stay home if they are feeling sick or were exposed to infected individuals, and taking specific COVID precautions at work. (ER-154-165).

These infected workers, who were then permitted to work at the San Francisco worksite without the required quarantine and safety precautions, first caused Mr. Robert Kuciemba to become infected with COVID, and then to unknowingly bring the virus home and infect his wife Mrs. Kuciemba. (ER-155-165, 157).

As a result of Defendant's negligence, Mrs. Kuciemba developed a severe respiratory infection requiring her to stay in the hospital for weeks and requiring her to be kept alive on a respirator. (ER-157). Mrs. Kuciemba seeks damages for her direct non-employee injury claims while Mr. Kuciemba only seeks loss of consortium damages due to his wife's injury claims. (ER-158).

The complaint contained the following causes of action: 1. Negligence; 2. Negligence Per Se; 3. Negligence – Premises Liability; 4. Public Nuisance – Assisting in the Creation of Substantial and Unreasonable Harm to Public Health and Safety that Affects an Entire Community of Considerable Number of Persons; and 5. Loss of Consortium. (ER-154-165).

- C. **Defendant filed a motion to dismiss the original complaint which was granted by the district court with leave to amend.**

Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss on January 4, 2021. (ER-171) Defendant's Motion primarily argued the following: (1) Plaintiffs' negligence causes of action were barred by the Exclusive Remedy of Workers' Compensation; and (2) Defendant owed no duty to Mrs. Kuciemba. (ER-171) Plaintiffs opposed the Motion, arguing in summary that the (1) the Workers' Compensation exclusivity does not apply to a non-employee spouse who received her own distinct and direct physical injuries; and (2) an analysis of the foreseeability and public policy factors under California law necessitate finding that Defendant owes a Duty to Mrs. Kuciemba. (ER-172). Plaintiffs discuss these arguments at length below.

The district court granted the Motion with leave to amend on February 22, 2021. (ER-095-096). The relevant portions of the District Court's Order are as follows: "[. . .] 2. The First, Second, Third, and Fifth Causes of Action, titled, respectively, "Negligence," "Negligence Per Se," "Negligence – Premises Liability," and "Loss of Consortium," are barred by the exclusive remedy provisions of California's workers' compensation statutes. See Cal. Labor Code §§ 3600, 3602." (ER-095-096).

D. Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Complaint which clarified certain factual allegations and

re-emphasized that Mrs. Kuciemba does not have a Workers' Compensation remedy because she was not employed by Defendant.

Plaintiffs amended their complaint on March 18, 2021 to address issues raised by the district court in its Order and at oral argument. (ER-084-094) The First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) re-alleged nearly all of the original complaint’s allegations, but also provided several key points of clarification, as well as additional facts that are consistent with the original complaint, the facts, and the law:

- (1) The FAC eliminated references to the fact that Mr. Kuciemba himself suffered his own physical injuries from COVID requiring hospitalization. These facts were true at the time the Complaint was filed and remain true. However, Plaintiffs removed these facts in the FAC because as a matter of well-established California law, described in detail below, it is irrelevant that Mr. Kuciemba was injured at all; (ER-084-094)
- (2) Pursuant to the Court’s Order, the FAC eliminated the Fourth Cause of Action for Public Nuisance;

- (3) The FAC cites to CDC publications that describe how asymptomatic persons who suffer no physical injury can still act as a reservoir for COVID. (ER-086);
- (4) The FAC explains how COVID can be spread both directly through the transmission of droplets in a person's breath and indirectly from "fomites" (ER-086);
- (5) The FAC explained the extreme precautions both Kuciembas had taken to minimize the risk of COVID and explaining why the most likely source of Mrs. Kuciemba's COVID infection was from either direct exposure to Mr. Kuciemba or indirect exposure through his clothing or personal effects, as opposed to some other, unknown point of exposure. (ER-087-089). These specific factual allegations were designed to eliminate the speculative arguments Defendant made in their original Motion to Dismiss regarding possible alternate sources of infection.
- (6) The FAC re-affirms that Mrs. Kuciemba is seeking damages for her own personal injuries and that she has no Workers' Compensation remedy. (ER-090-091).

The FAC contained the following causes of action: 1. Negligence; 2. Negligence Per Se; 3. Negligence – Premises Liability; and 4. Loss of Consortium. (ER-090-092)

E. Defendants filed a renewed motion to dismiss which the district court granted without leave to amend.

On April 1, 2021, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the FAC. (ER-174). Defendant again argued that (1) Plaintiffs’ negligence causes of action were barred by the Exclusive Remedy of Workers’ Compensation; and (2) Defendant owed no duty to Mrs. Kuciemba. Plaintiffs opposed the Motion with the same substantive arguments. (ER-174)

The district court heard oral argument on May 7, 2021. (ER-174) Following oral argument, the district court granted the Motion and dismissed the complaint with prejudice on May 10, 2021. (ER-004-006, 174-175). The relevant portion of the district court’s order is as follows:

“Having read and considered the parties’ respective written submissions as well as the arguments of counsel at the above-referenced hearing, the Court, for the reasons stated in detail on the record at said hearing, as well as the hearing conducted February 12, 2021, rules as follows:

1. To the extent plaintiffs’ claims are based on allegations that Corby Kuciemba contracted COVID “through direct contact with” Robert Kuciemba (see FAC ¶ 22), such claims are barred by the exclusive remedy provisions of

California's workers' compensation statutes and, thus, are subject to dismissal. See Cal. Labor Code §§ 3600, 3602.

2. To the extent plaintiffs' claims are based on allegations that Corby Kuciemba contracted COVID "indirectly through fomites such as [Robert Kuciemba's] clothing" (see FAC ¶ 22), such claims are subject to dismissal for failure to plead a plausible claim.

3. To the extent the above-described claims are neither barred by statute nor deemed insufficiently pleaded, such claims are subject to dismissal for the reason that defendant's duty to provide a safe workplace to its employees does not extend to nonemployees who, like Corby Kuciemba, contract a viral infection away from those premises."

(ER-005-006)

Plaintiffs timely appealed from this order. (ER-166-168, 175)

The Ninth Circuit heard oral argument on March 10, 2022. On April 21, 2022 the Ninth Circuit certified two questions to this Court pursuant to Rule 8.548(a) of the California Rules of Court. *Kuciemba v. Victory Woodworks, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2022) 31 F. 4th 1268. This Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request on June 22, 2022.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Mrs. Kuciemba's claims are not barred by the exclusive remedy of Workers' Compensation under the derivative injury doctrine because she is a non-employee who alleges a direct physical injury to her own body caused by Defendant's negligence.

The First Certified Question before this Court is: If an employee contracts COVID at his workplace and brings the virus home to his [non-employee] spouse, does California’s derivative injury doctrine bar the spouse’s claim against the employer? The answer is “No.”

The district court held that Mrs. Kuciemba’s “direct transmission” claims are barred by the exclusive remedy of Workers’ Compensation. (ER-005-006). Plaintiffs respectfully disagree with the district court’s ruling.

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