S274191

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

## **CORBY KUCIEMBA and ROBERT KUCIEMBA**

## Plaintiffs-Appellants

v.

VICTORY WOODWORKS, INC., a Nevada Corporation

Defendant-Respondent

On Grant of Request to Decide Certified Questions from the United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit Pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548 Ninth Circuit No. 21-15963

## VICTORY WOODWORKS, INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Hinshaw & Culbertson LLP William Bogdan (124321) 50 California Street, Suite 2900 San Francisco, CA 94111 Telephone: 415-362-6000 Facsimile: 415-834-9070 wbogdan@hinshawlaw.com

##

I.	ISSUES PRESENTED			
II.	INTRODUCTION			
III.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE10		
	А.	Original Complaint Dismissed12		
	В.	Amended Complaint Dismissed14		
	C.	Ninth Circuit Certification16		
IV.	emp	The Labor Code Bars a Claim for A non- employee's injury that is derivative of an employee'son-the-job illness		
	A.	Labor Code Section 3600 <i>et seq.</i> Provides the Exclusive Remedy for Damages resulting from a Workplace Injury		
	B.	<i>See's Candies</i> Misreads <i>Snyder</i> to Usurp the Legislature's Mandate on the Exclusive Remedy Rule		
V.	AN EMPLOYER owes no duty TO THE HOUSEHOLDS OF ITS EMPLOYEES TO PREVENT INFECTION BY COVID-1934			
	A.	California Limits on Duties Owed to Third-Parties34		
	В.	California Does Not Recognize "Take- home" Liability for a Viral Pathogen41		
		1. <i>Kesner</i> and Its Narrow Application to Asbestos41		

		2. The	Rowland Factors Do not		
		Favo	or Creating a Duty to		
		Prev	vent an Employee's		
		Trar	nsmittal of COVID-19 to the		
		Hou	sehold44		
		a.	Absence of Moral Blame44		
		b.	Lack of Connection		
			Between Conduct and		
			Injury45		
		с.	Ineffective Deterrent Effect47		
		d.	Adverse Consequences on		
			Community and Defendant48		
			C C		
		e.	Distinctions from Asbestos50		
	C.	The Court	t of Appeal has Correctly		
		Held that	An Employer Owes no Duty		
		for an On-	the-Job Illness Transmitted		
		to an Emp	bloyee's Family52		
	D.	Authoritie	es from Other Jurisdictions		
		Support t	he Rejection of an		
		Employer	's Duty to Third-Parties to		
		Prevent C	OVID-1954		
VI.	CON	CLUSION	61		
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE					
PROOF O	F SER	VICE	64		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases

Arena v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp. (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 117845
Ashcroft v. Iqbal (2009) 556 U.S. 662
Bank of Italy T.&S. v. Bentley (1933) 217 Cal. 644
Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. (1992) 3 Cal. 4th 370 (Bily)35, 48, 49
Brown v. USA Taekwondo (2021) 11 Cal. 5th 204 (Brown)passim
Charles J. Vacanti, M.D., Inc. v. State Comp. Ins. Fund (2001) 24 Cal.4th 800 (Vacanti)19, 21
City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 129 (City of Los Angeles)43, 53, 54
Cole v. Fair Oaks Fire Protection Dist. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 14825
Colonial Van & Storage, Inc. v. Superior Court (2022) 76 Cal.App.5th 487 (Colonial Van)
Dahlia v. Rodriguez (9th Cir. 2013) 735 F.3d 106013
Davert v. Larson (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 40747
Davis v. Rodman (1921) 147 Ark. 385

Dillon v. Legg (1968) 68 Cal.2d 72823, 35
Elsheref v. Applied Materials, Inc. (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 451 (Elsheref)passim
Ess v. Eskaton Properties, Inc. (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 12040
Gilgert v. Stockton Port District (1936) 7 Cal.2d 38454
<i>Gund v. County of Trinity</i> (2020) 10 Cal.5th 50319
Hoffman v. Blackmon (Fla.App. 1970) 241 So.2d 752
Horwich v. Superior Court (1999) 21 Cal.4th 27226
<i>Iniguez v. Aurora Packing Company, Inc.</i> (Ill.Cir.Ct., Kane County, Mar. 31, 2021, No. 20 L 372) 2020 WL 4734941
Jones v. Stanko (1928) 118 Ohio St. 147 [6 Ohio L.Abs. 77, 160 N.E. 456]
Kesner v. Superior Court (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132 (Kesner)passim
<i>King v. CompPartners, Inc.</i> (2018) 5 Cal.5th 1039 ( <i>King</i> )19, 22
<i>Kuciemba v. Victory Woodworks, Inc.</i> (9th Cir. 2022) 31 F. 4th 1268 16, 17, 33, 42
Kuciemba v. Victory Woodworks, Inc. (Cal. June 22, 2022) 2022 Cal. LEXIS 351117

<ul> <li>Kuciemba v. Victory Woodworks, Inc.</li> <li>(N.D. Cal., Feb. 22, 2021, No. 3:20-cv-09355- MMC)(Kuciemba I)</li></ul>
Kuciemba v. Victory Woodworks, Inc. (N.D. Cal. May 10, 2021) 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 88997
<ul> <li>Kurtz v. Sibley Memorial Hospital (Md.Cir.Ct., Montgomery County, Mar. 25, 2021, No. 483758V)</li></ul>
Lathourakis v. Raymours Furniture Co., Inc. (NY.Sup.Ct., Mar. 8, 2021, No. 59130/2020.)42
Lefiell Manufacturing Co. v. Superior Court (2012) 55 Cal.4th 275 (Lefiell)25
Lu v. Hawaiian Gardens Casino, Inc. (2010) 50 Cal.4th 59250
Estate of Madden v. Southwest Airlines Co. (D. Md. June 23, 2021, 1:21-cv-00672-SAG) 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1117266
Estate of Madden v. Southwest Airlines Co. (D. Md. June 23, 2021, 1:21-cv-00672-SAG) 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 117266 (Madden) 57, 59, 60, 61
Maher v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1983) 33 Cal.3d 729
Marina Point Ltd. v. Wolfson (1982) 30 Cal.3d 721
Mayron v. Google LLC (2020) 54 Cal.App.5th 566
Miklosy v. Regents of the University of California (2008) 44 Cal. 4th 87620

Palsgraf v. Long Island Railroad (1928) 248 N.Y. 339 (Andrews, J., dissenting)55
Robbins v. Yellow Cab Co. 85 Cal. App. 2d 811 (1948)29
Rowland v. Christian (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108 (Rowland)passim
Ruiz v. ConAgra Foods (E.D. Wis. (6/8/22 No.22-2471) 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1117266
Estate of Ruiz v. ConAgra Foods Packaged Foods,
<i>LLC</i> (E.D. Wis. 5/3/22) 2022 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8430254, 55, 61
Ruiz v. Herman Weissker, Inc. (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 5240
Salin v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co., 136 Cal.App.2d. 3d 185 (1982), rev'w denied18, 25, 26
See's Candies, Inc. v. Superior Court (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 66 (See's Candies)passim
<i>Skillings</i> v. <i>Allen</i> (1919) 143 Minn. 323
Snyder v. Michael's Stores, Inc. (1997) 16 Cal.4th 991 (Snyder)passim
Stewart v. Union Carbide Corp. (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 2345
<i>Tarasoff v. Regents</i> (1976) 17 Cal.3d 425
Thompson v. County of Alameda (1980) 27 Cal.3d 74135

Treat v. Los Angeles Gas etc. Corp. (1927) 82 Cal.App. 610
Williams v. Schwartz (1976) 61 Cal.App.3d. 3d 628passim
Williams v. State Comp. Ins. Fund (1975) 50 Cal.App.3d 116 (State)
<i>Wojcik</i> v. <i>Aluminum Co. of America</i> (1959) 18 Misc. 2d 740 [183 N.Y.S.2d 351]
Statutes
Civ. Code § 1714
Labor Code §§ 3212.86-3212.8832
Labor Code § 3600passim
Labor Code § 3601(a)20
Labor Code § 3602(a)20, 27
Labor Code § 3802
Labor Code § 455825
Labor Code § 5300(a)21
Other Authorities
8 CCR section 3205(c)(7)

· ·		
Fed. Rules Civ. Proc.	12(b)(6)	12

## I. ISSUES PRESENTED

Robert Kuciemba claims he caught a virus at his San Francisco construction site in the course and scope of his employment. His spouse Corby Kuciemba claims she caught that same virus at home in Hercules from Mr. Kuciemba.

Ms. Kuciemba filed a civil action for negligence against Mr. Kuciemba's employer, Defendant Victory Woodworks, Inc. Mr. Kuciemba also sued his own employer for loss of consortium. In reviewing the propriety of the U.S. District Court's dismissal of Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit certified the following questions to the California Supreme Court:

A. If an employee contracts COVID-19 at his workplace and brings the virus home to his spouse, does California's derivative injury doctrine bar the spouse's claim against the employer?

B. Under California law, does an employer owe a duty to the households of its employees to exercise ordinary care to prevent the spread of COVID-19?

### II. INTRODUCTION

Most of the 10,898,548 Californians diagnosed with the COVID-19 virus since March 2020<sup>1</sup> have one thing in common: they live with someone who has a job. According to Plaintiffs, each

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As of August 12, 2022. See

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2021/us/california-covidcases.html

of those persons could state a cognizable claim against a housemate's employer. Each newly diagnosed person could file a complaint against that employer, regardless of when, or even if, the employed housemate showed symptoms of the virus. No matter what steps an employer took to slow the spread of COVID-19, there could be a claim based on a plaintiff's diagnosis alone, so long as that person had any contact with a worker.

There are two barriers this Court has recognized to prevent that calamity from becoming a reality:

1. An employer has no legal obligation beyond worker's compensation to compensate anyone incurring a loss derivative of an employee's on-the-job injury; and

2. An employer owes no legal duty to prevent someone off-site from catching a virus from an employee who becomes infected on-site.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs live in Hercules, California on a residential block of contiguous homes bordering on several retail complexes. (Defendant Victory Woodwork's Excerpts of Record (hereinafter "VWER") VWER\_071.) Within walking distance of Plaintiffs' home is a Rite Aid, Big Lots, Post Office, McDonald's, Home Depot and Lucky's Supermarket. (VWER\_046-49.) The City of Hercules has been under a Local Emergency Order because of COVID-19 since March 20, 2020. (VWER\_106-110.)

On May 6, 2020, Mr. Kuciemba started working for defendant Victory Woodworks at a construction site in San Francisco, an industry deemed essential by California and San Francisco. (Appellant's Corrected Excerpts of Record (hereinafter "ER") ER-87 [16; San Francisco Order of the Health Officer [hereafter "SF Order"] VWER\_085 §16(f)(v)). Each morning, whether by BART train, carpool or otherwise, Mr. Kuciemba made the long commute from his home in Hercules to his construction job in San Francisco.

Ms. Kuciemba would stay behind in Hercules. There is no allegation that she ever visited her husband's jobsite in San Francisco. What she did and who she met throughout the week was her prerogative.

At the end of his shift, Mr. Kuciemba would return home during the afternoon rush hour. Whatever stops he made during his commute, how he spent the other two-thirds of his day, where he chose to relax on the weekends, and who he saw during nonwork hours was his prerogative.

After Defendant no longer employed him, Ms. Kuciemba began experiencing unidentified symptoms of the COVID-19 virus on July 11 or 12, 2020. (ER-157 P18, 89 P24.) Mr. Kuciemba began experiencing symptoms within the same timeframe. Plaintiffs tested positive on July 16, 2020, and were both hospitalized. (ER-89 P24.)

Mr. Kuciemba claims the only place on the planet where he could have contracted the COVID-19 virus was at his jobsite (ER-157 P17.) Ms. Kuciemba claims the only place on the planet she could have caught the virus was at home from her husband. (ER-159 P24, 90 P30.) Plaintiffs blamed Mr. Kuciemba's infection on the arrival at the San Francisco project of Victory Woodworks

employees from a project in Mountain View, where he believed COVID-19 had been present. (ER-88 P19) Somehow, Plaintiffs are convinced Ms. Kuciemba could not have infected her husband, and that Ms. Kuciemba could not have contracted the virus from any other source but her husband.

Mr. Kuciemba filed a workers' compensation claim against his employer for his workplace illness. (VWER\_062-72.) Ms. Kuciemba filed a civil claim for negligence and premises liability against Defendant, alleging that there were twelve things it could have done better in managing the jobsite to protect her from the virus her husband contracted at work. (ER-89-90 ₱27.) Mr. Kuciemba sued Defendant as well for his loss of his wife's consortium. Plaintiffs sought tort damages, punitive damages and attorney's fees. The complaint was removed to federal court on diversity grounds and assigned to the Hon. Maxine Chesney.

#### A. <u>Original Complaint Dismissed</u>

Plaintiffs were unequivocal in their original complaint as to the basis of their claims: Mr. Kuciemba was infected with COVID-19 through exposure to his co-workers on the jobsite, and Ms. Kuciemba contracted that same disease from her husband at home. (ER-157 P17-18, ER-159 24.)

In response, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss on grounds that 1) Plaintiffs' claims were subsumed by the workers' compensation remedy; 2) Defendant did not owe a duty to prevent non-employees off-site from contracting COVID-19; and 3) Plaintiffs claims were not plausible when measured against the federal standard applicable to a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) requiring the District Court "to draw on its judicial experience and common sense" in evaluating the complaint. (*Ashcroft v. Iqbal* (2009) 556 U.S. 662 at 679.) Moreover, under the federal standard "it is within [the court's] wheelhouse to reject, as implausible, allegations that are too speculative to warrant further factual development." (*Dahlia v. Rodriguez* (9th Cir. 2013) 735 F.3d 1060, 1076.)

Plaintiffs' opposition repeatedly stressed that Mr. Kuciemba caused his wife to become infected by the same virus he contracted at work. (VWER\_028:23-25.) "[T]he virus entered the employee's body at work and then passed on to the non-employee member." (VWER\_031:21-24.)

During oral argument, Judge Chesney posed "the easy question" to counsel for Plaintiffs: if Mr. Kuciemba was infected with the virus at work but asymptomatic, would he still be considered injured? Counsel responded, "Yes. I would argue my position is first if he was asymptomatic, he's in fact injured because they now have a pathogen living in their body that they did not have before." Counsel also conceded that an infected, though asymptomatic, worker would be "injured," but not capable of making a civil recovery. (ER-108:19-109:6.)

Because Ms. Kuciemba would have no injury unless Mr. Kuciemba's worksite illness infected her, and Ms. Kuciemba had neither visited nor been injured on her husband's worksite, the District Court dismissed the complaint based on the workers' compensation exclusive remedy, but provided Plaintiffs leave to amend. (ER-095-96.)

#### B. <u>Amended Complaint Dismissed</u>

In light of Judge Chesney's ruling, Plaintiffs changed tack in the amended complaint. They excised any mention of Mr. Kuciemba's infection, serious COVID-19 symptoms, positive COVID-19 test, or subsequent hospitalization. (Compare ER-157 **P**18-19 with ER-089 **P**24-25.) Instead, they claimed for the first time that despite his hospitalization for COVID-19, Mr. Kuciemba might really have only been asymptomatic (ER-86 **P**7, ER-09:2-11.) Despite the lack of support in the record, and inconsistent with the etiology of the virus, Ms. Kuciemba claimed to have somehow been made ill by her husband's clothing. (ER-88 **P**22.)

Defendant again moved to dismiss on the same three grounds. In response, Plaintiffs argued that this Court's decision in *Snyder v. Michael's Stores, Inc.* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 991 (*Snyder*) mandated that their claims were not preempted by workers' compensation. *Snyder* involved a child's civil claim for an *in utero* injury at her mother's worksite.

At oral argument, the District Court distinguished the facts of *Snyder* and disagreed that *Snyder* held that the exclusive remedy would not apply here. Ms. Kuciemba was injured at home as a result of her husband's injury (ER-15:7-25, 41:21-42:5.) Judge Chesney noted the fetus in *Snyder* was in effect a "tiny visitor" to the premises of the mother's employer, who suffered her own separate injury, unrelated to and different from that sustained by her mother. (ER-14:6-11, 47:7-48:1.) Thus the infant in *Snyder* could pursue a claim just as any other injured customer could. (ER-40:13-17, 106:1-4.) Because Ms. Kuciemba caught from Mr. Kuciemba the very illness her husband incurred on the job, *Snyder* was inapplicable.

As to the question of duty, the District Court rejected the suggestion that the take-home liability theory applicable to asbestos in *Kesner v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132 (*Kesner*) be expanded to encompass a virus claim. In contrast to asbestos, the tenuous connection between the employer's conduct and the COVID-19 infection off-site, lack of moral blame, cost to society, and minimal deterrence did not justify extending to family members in the home any duty Defendant owed to its employees while on the job. (ER-26:12-29:15, 37:2-5.)

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